IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**COPY**

NO. 2008-CP-01546-COA

TIMOTHY DIGGS

**FILED**

APPELLANT

MAR 27 2009

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

---

Appeal From The Circuit Court of Lawrence County, Mississippi  
Honorable Michael R. Eubanks, Circuit Judge presiding

---

**A. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1.

Appellant, Timothy Diggs has suffered a violation of his 5th and 14th Amendment rights under the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi where he have been sentenced to a mandatory sentence without the benefit of earned time, without having been indicted for such offense which, upon indictment and conviction, required a mandatory sentence by law. There was no firearm or deadly weapon introduced in court to substantiate armed robbery under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79 and Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-139(1)(e).

2.

Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Diggs of the correct law in regards to appeal of a sentence rendered upon an open plea of

guilty to obtain direct review of such sentence by the Court of Appeals and the Mississippi Supreme Court.

**COPY**

3.

Appellant Diggs was denied due process of law and subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel where defense counsel advised Diggs that if he failed to waive indictment and enter plea to information his defense counsel would make sure the trial be conducted before Judge Prichard who would impose a life sentence.

4.

Appellant Diggs was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense of armed robbery without having admitted a sufficient factual basis to demonstrate guilt of such armed robbery offense and where the appellant, in fact, advised the court that he never went into the store and he would take a polygraph to prove this.

### **FACTS**

Appellant Diggs executed a waiver of indictment on April 21, 2005, in Cause No. K05-0008E. Such waiver charged Appellant with armed robbery but never set forth any statutory code identification of the offense or cause number of case.

Diggs was represented by Honorable Robert E. Evans of Monticello, Mississippi. Appellant's attorney never instructed Appellant Diggs that the sentence which was rendered under the information would require that it be served mandatory.

The information provided to Appellant by his attorney caused Appellant to believe that if he waived a formal indictment and proceeded to plead guilty that the sentence imposed would not be a mandatory sentence and would be served with full benefit of earned time credit for good conduct.

During the plea colloquy the trial court never advised that the sentence, or any portions thereof, would be served or was required to be served mandatory.

**COPY**

Appellant continued, throughout the plea process, to believe that his waiver of the indictment process would constitute a waiver by the state to seek or impose a mandatory sentence since such a sentence would require a formal indictment by the grand jury.

Appellant Diggs would assert that the trial court never instructed him that he had the right to appeal the legality of the sentence to the Supreme Court on direct appeal.

Had the trial Court made Appellant Diggs aware of this right he would have perfected a direct appeal of the sentence, and it's illegality, to the Mississippi Supreme Court he would have perfected an appeal of the sentence.

Appellant would assert that the trial court had no jurisdiction to proceed to entry of a guilty plea and sentencing stage where there was no indictment and no waiver of the indictment which would pass constitutional muster. Any actions which the trial court conducted was therefore illegal, especially the sentencing, and was subject to a direct appeal. Had Appellant been made aware of such then an appeal would have followed.

### **ARGUMENT**

1.

Timothy Diggs was charged by criminal information, with the offense of armed robbery. The prosecution elected to allow Diggs to waive a formal indictment and to proceed to plead guilty under the information. The court accepted the plea and sentenced Appellant to a term of 30 years imprisonment with 20 years suspended and 10 years to serve. The Circuit Court Judge never indicated nor advised Diggs that he had the right to seek a direct review of the severe sentence by the Court of Appeal and the Mississippi Supreme Court.

Diggs' conviction was entered upon the plea of guilty to information. Diggs would assert that such plea to information has no authority to deprive Diggs of earned time accumulation which would permit Diggs to be released from the service of the first 10 years early. Berry would assert that:

**COPY**

- a) The information failed to appraise Diggs that he was subject to a sentence which required that the first 10 years be served mandatory and he was, therefore, not appraised of the consequences of any such plea to the information, nor the effects of the waiver.
- b) Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-3 provides the following:

A person indicted for a criminal offense shall not be convicted thereof, unless by confession of his guilt in open court or by admitting the truth of the jury accepted and recorded in court. A person charged with an offense shall not be punished, therefore, unless legally convicted thereof in a court having jurisdiction of the cause and of the person.

This section clearly requires an indictment before any jurisdiction and conviction may be legal. Article 3, Section 27, of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi was amended in November, 1978, to authorize proceedings against a appellant charged with a felony by information. . . . where a appellant is represented by counsel and by sworn statement waives indictment. Jefferson v. State, 556 So. 2d 1016 (Miss 1989). The information filed against Diggs in this case provides no notice that the charge of armed robbery, upon conviction, subjects the appellant to a term of imprisonment without any possibility for earned time nor parole. Any waiver made by Diggs, without having been made aware of all the consequences of the charge, would not be a valid waiver. Diggs was not adequately or constitutionally informed. Moreover, the information fails to provide or identify the statute in which it is sought under. Appellant should have been entitled to notice of this critical information before any waiver or a plea of guilty to such offense can be valid. The failures of the information in this regard should cause the sentence rendered to be without the effect of Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79 and Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-139 (1) (e). In the alternative, the

waiver and every proceeding which occurred thereafter should be held invalid and void. Additionally, the conviction and sentence conflicts with Miss. Code Ann §99-19-3 which should prevent petitioner's punishment unless the conviction was the result of a valid and informed waiver or by an indictment and legal conviction.

**COPY**

## VI.

### **APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHERE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ADVISE APPELLANT OF THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE SENTENCE**

The trial court failed to advise Diggs that he had the right to appeal the actions of the Court in the sentence it arrived at in regards to the plea. Even upon a plea of guilty the law would allow Diggs a direct appeal of the sentence imposed. The trial court judge made fundamental error where the Court failed to advise Diggs of this avenue of review and challenge of the sentence in regards to the plea of guilty. The law is clear that a appellant who pleads guilty has a right to a directly appeal the sentence to the Supreme Court. Trotter v. State, 554 So. 2d 313, 86 A.L.R.4th 327 (Miss. 1989). While the trial court was very careful to find that appellant waived his right to directly appeal the conviction where he entered a plea of guilty, the court never touched upon the issue of whether appellant waived his right to appeal the sentence on the ground that it was illegal or beyond the court's authority to impose. Trotter v. State, 554 So. 2d 313 (Miss. 1989)

The true and genuine issue in this instance is whether the trial court should have told Diggs that he had the right to appeal the sentence imposed by the court, not the plea, to the Court of Appeals the same as if he was appealing from an actual trial and conviction. The trial court failed to advise Diggs of this right. Diggs would assert that the Supreme Court in Trotter recognized that an appeal from a sentence imposed upon a plea of guilty may be taken to the



Court of Appeals, or the Supreme Court, as if it were a sentence rendered from a trial and verdict. An appeal from a sentence is not analogous to an appeal from a conviction or from the plea itself. Since the Supreme Court made this a right to be enjoyed by the appellant who enters a guilty plea, then this right should be revealed to the appellant at the time the sentence is imposed the same as it would be revealed to one who is found guilty by a jury and receives knowledge of his right to an appeal. The court has recognized this right in a number of other decisions since Trotter. Diggs should have been told this by the trial Court in order to make his decision to enter a plea guilty and before such plea should be considered a knowing and voluntary act. Being made aware of all rights associated with a plea of guilty is a prerequisite to a CONSTITUTIONAL PLEA. Certainly Diggs should have not been told half the story and left to guess the parts which was not said.

It is true that Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-35-101 (Rev. 2007) states that: "Any person convicted of an offense in a circuit court may appeal to the supreme court, provided, however, an appeal from the circuit court to the supreme court shall not be allowed in any case where the appellant enters a plea of guilty." It is just as true that, while section 99-35-101 prevents a appellant from appealing his guilty plea itself, a appellant may pursue a direct appeal asserting the illegality of the sentence imposed pursuant to his guilty plea. Jennings v. State, 896 So. 2d 374, 377 (¶16) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Appellant Diggs here that have received an illegal sentence from which he would have appealed had he possessed the requisite knowledge of such a right to appeal. Given this, Diggs have substantially shown a violation of a fundamental right that would except this issue from the procedural bar. *See id.* at 377 This Court should grant relief from the judgment of conviction and sentence.

The trial court's order denying the PCR held that "(I)t is this Court opinion that there were no errors in petitioner's sentencing and that the thirty (30) year sentence imposed for the offense of armed robbery was valid and legal." (R. 47) The trial court clearly says this but, if the record filed with the Supreme Court in this case is correct, the trial court never looked at the transcript of the sentencing to make such determination as to the legality of the sentence and what transpired during the sentencing proceedings. The trial court cannot even be sure of what advice was provided to Appellant during the sentencing when the record on appeal is completely deplete of any sentencing transcript of May 13, 2005, the date in which the trial court designated as to when sentence would be imposed. (Tr. 68-69)

#### **VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA**

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In Corley v. State, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." See, e.g., Gladney v. State, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions<sup>1</sup> raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. Hill v. State, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); Watts v. Lucas, 394

---

<sup>1</sup> While the Mississippi Supreme Court specified "Inmates at the Mississippi State Penitentiary", it is clear that this decision would apply to any inmate confined within or without the State of Mississippi who has been subjected to a Mississippi conviction and sentence which they desire to attack collaterally.

So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); Ball v. State, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); Tiller v. State, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

**COPY**

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

### **INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL**

Appellant Timothy Diggs was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney, representing him during the plea and sentencing proceedings, advised Diggs to plead guilty to armed robbery or the state would go to trial and impose a life sentence. Defense Counsel had no right to give such advice or make such Predicament. Counsel's advice in this respect amounted to coercion. Defense Counsel applied pressure to appellant to plead guilty through appealing to petitioner's family to persuade appellant to plead guilty. Such action's violate the Sixth Amendment to the United States constitution More over, such action denied counsel transformed into and agent of the prosecutor by acting to cause appellant to plead guilty. This court should find that the plea was involuntary when made under the facts set out here and in the attached affidavits.

In. Jackson v. State, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Miss. 2002) (No. 2000-KA-01195-SCT), the Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:.

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the appellant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the appellant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So. 2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995).

*Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the appellant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).*

*Diggs claims that the following instances demonstrate that he suffered ineffective assistance of counsel during his pre-plea proceedings. First, defense counsel never informed Diggs that only the jury could impose a life sentence and that the judge, even if Diggs was convicted, could not impose life without a recommendation from the jury. The advice by counsel to plead guilty was simply rendered blindly and without any insight of what the consequences of such plea would cause. Defense Counsel was grossly ineffective and had she been functioning as the counsels which the constitution requires then Diggs would only stand convicted of simple accessory after the fact of armed robbery today. Defense Counsel's actions has caused Diggs grave consequences.*

*Defense counsel never sought to interview defense witnesses in preparation for the actual trial. This clearly demonstrates ineffective assistance. Defense Counsel failed to interview the co-defendant. Had this happened then counsel would have known that petitioner's involvement in the crime was at a minimum. There is a number of cases holding that an attorney is ineffective when he fails to perform any pretrial investigation or interview any witnesses at all. See generally Payton v. State, 708 So.2d 559 (Miss. 1998); Woodward v. State, 635 So.2d 805,*

813 (Miss. 1993) (*Smith, J. dissenting*); *Yarbrough v. State*, 529 So.2d 659 (Miss. 1988); *Neal v. State*, 525 So.2d 1279 (Miss. 1987).

**COPY**

In *Ward v. State*, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls him client's case. See *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also *Herring v. Estelle*, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis); *Leatherwood v. State*, 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the appellant alleged that him attorney did not know the relevant law).

In the instant case, defense counsel failed to know the law in regards to armed robbery and accessory after the fact of armed robbery as well as failed to advise Diggs of the law. Either way, it is ineffective assistance of counsel.

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the appellant must meet the two-prong test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); *Knight v. State*, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); *Barnes v. State*, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); *Waldrop v. State*, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), *aff'd after remand*, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); *Stringer v. State*, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of *Smith v. State*, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The *Strickland* test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's

performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the appellant. Id.; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1984) **COPY** *reversed in part, affirmed in part*, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The appellant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for him attorney's errors, appellant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted the "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronin, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Modern Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client, 2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a appellant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronin, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in his plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in Night v. State, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515-520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

## II

In a long line of cases that includes Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938),

and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in him favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for him defense." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. *Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann*, 317 U.S. 269, 275 , 276 (1942); see *Powell v. Alabama*, supra, at 68-69.

**COPY**

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