IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TIMOTHY DIGGS

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-1546

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NOTION

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680 APPELLANT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

ARGUMENT

THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE PRISONER'S MOTION IN POST - CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

This Court will not disturb a Circuit Court's denial of relief on a motion in post -

conviction relief absent a finding that its decision was clearly erroneous. Smith v. State, 806

So.2d 1148 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Questions of law, however, are reviewed de novo. Pace v.

State, 770 So.2d 1052 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

1. Was it required that the information exhibited against the prisoner inform him of the mandatory nature of a sentence imposed for the felony of armed robbery; was the information <u>defective because it did not identify the statute number assigned to the felony of armed robbery?</u>

The first argument tendered by the prisoner appears to be a claim that the information he consented to was defective because it mentioned nothing about the mandatory nature of a sentence to be served upon conviction of armed robbery, and because the information did not cite the statute number for armed robbery. (Brief for the prisoner, at pages 6 - 8).

These claims were waived by the prisoner's plea of guilty. A valid plea of guilty acts as a waiver as to all non-jurisdictional defects. *Swift v. State*, 3 So.3rd 1108 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Neither of these alleged defects are jurisdictional in nature.

Secondly, the prisoner presents no authority to demonstrate that an information must notice an accused about parole eligibility considerations with respect to any sentence that might be imposed upon conviction, and no authority to demonstrate that the lack of a statute number in an information invalidates the information. His argument is for that reason abandoned. *Wall v. State*, 883 So.2d 617 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

Even if these claims were not waived or abandoned, there is no merit in them. There is no requirement of which we are aware that an information must inform an accused that any sentence imposed upon conviction will or may be a mandatory sentence. As for the statute number, the lack of the statute number will not invalidate a charging document where it is clear that the accused was aware of what felony to which he was pleading. *Harris v. State*, 819 So.2d 1286 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). In any event, as noted by the Circuit Court, the information did in fact identify the statute number. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 45). We further adopt the Circuit Court's findings and conclusion of law with respect to this issue. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 44 - 45).

To the extent that the prisoner means to say that he had been given incorrect advice concerning the mandatory nature of the sentence by his attorney, there is nothing to support this claim in the prisoner's motion save his own affidavit. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 21). This was insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing. *Bliss v. State*, 2 So.3rd 777 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Beyond this, the prisoner stated under oath that his attorney had explained the penalties attached to the charge against him, and stated that he was satisfied with his attorney's representation. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 22 - 23; 25; 27-29).

To the extent that the prisoner means to complain that the Circuit Court did not advise him with respect to parole eligibility matters, the court was under no obligation to do so. *Smith v. State*, 919 So.2d 989, 993 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

2. Advice concerning appeal of sentence

The second complaint raised here by the prisoner is that he was not advised by the Circuit Court that he could appeal the sentence imposed in consequence of his guilty plea. (Brief for the prisoner, at 8 - 10). We note, preliminarily, that the prisoner has not indicated what ground or grounds exist to support such an appeal, other than a vague claim that some fundamental right might be involved.

Nonetheless, it is clear that the Circuit Court was under no obligation to advise the prisoner of this said-to-be right to appeal. *Coleman v. State*, 979 So.2d 732 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

3. Voluntariness of plea

The prisoner appears to complain that the Circuit Court failed to ensure that there was a factual basis for his plea of guilty. (Brief for the prisoner at 10 - 11).

In the course of the plea colloquy, the court asked the prisoner whether he wished to have

the charge against him read to him, to which the prisoner replied in the negative. The court then informed the prisoner that the charge was armed robbery, and asked him for his plea, to which the prisoner replied "guilty". The court then asked the prisoner if he was pleading guilty because he was guilty, and whether the allegations of the information were true and correct. The prisoner replied affirmatively. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 49). Prior to these questions and answers, the prisoner stated that he had read his petition to enter a guilty plea and the charge contained in the information and understood what he had read. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 17). He also indicated that his attorney had gone over the petition and the charge with him and explained them to him. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 20 - 21).

The information alleged that the prisoner had, on 9 February 2005, in Lawrence County, committed an armed robbery of Valley Quik Stop by putting a clerk in fear of immediate injury by the exhibition of a hand gun. (R. Vol. 1, pg 32).¹ The facts alleged in the information certainly alleged a violation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-79 (Rev. 2006).

According to the prisoner's sworn responses to the court's questions, he clearly was aware of the allegations made against him in the information. He further stated that those allegations were true and correct and that he was pleading guilty because he was guilty. The allegations of the information were sufficiently specific to establish a factual basis for the plea. *Cf. Coleman v. State*, 979 So.2d 731 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). An indictment or information may be the sole source of the basis for the plea, if reasonably specific. *Madden v. State*, 991 So.2d

¹ The executed information has not been made a part of the record. What is part of the record is apparently an unexecuted copy of the information that the prisoner attached as an exhibit to his motion in post - conviction relief. Here, though, the prisoner admits that he did execute a waiver of indictment and consent, (Brief for the prisoner, at 5), and no issue is made here concerning whether he did in fact waive indictment and consent to being proceeded against by information.

1231 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

4. Ineffective assistance of counsel

Several instances of alleged ineffective assistance of counsel are raised by the prisoner. However, his motion in post - conviction relief contained no affidavits other than his own. As we have stated above, for this reason the Circuit Court committed no error in refusing to grant an evidentiary hearing. *Bliss, supra*. This is especially so here in view of the fact that the prisoner alleges that the attorney coerced him into pleading guilty by appealing to the prisoner's family. There are no affidavits from anyone except the prisoner.

As for the claim that the attorney coerced the prisoner into pleading guilty (Brief for the prisoner, at 11), this claim is rebutted by what the prisoner told the Circuit Court, under oath, during the plea colloquy. The prisoner specifically denied having been coerced by anyone. Moreover, he expressed satisfaction with this attorney's representation. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 27 - 28; 39 - 41). Where a prisoner later contradicts his statements made under oath during a plea colloquy, a Circuit Court may rely upon the statements made during the plea colloquy. *Templeton v. State*, 725 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1998).

The prisoner then claims that the attorney did not know the law concerning armed robbery and accessory after the fact of armed robbery. (Brief for the prisoner, at 13). There is nothing whatsoever in the record to support this bald accusation. Nor is there any support for the claim that the prisoner was not informed "regarding the full scope of the sentence". On the other hand, it is clear that the prisoner acknowledged that he had been informed of the minimum and maximum sentences imposable for his felony. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 22 - 23). Nor is there the slightest suggestion in the record or elsewhere that the prisoner's attorney did not investigate the case and interview witnesses. The prisoner does nothing more than to make these allegations; he does not

point to a single thing to give flesh to them. (Brief for the prisoner, at 23). There are no affidavits from these supposed witnesses.

The prisoner here asserts that he was not told that he could have been sentenced to life imprisonment for the felony of armed robbery, had a jury so decreed. This claim is rebutted by his statement in the plea colloquy that he had been informed of the minimum and maximum sentences imposable. Beyond this, though, since the prisoner was not sentenced to life imprisonment, we think he had nothing to complain of. He suffered no prejudice.

We also adopt the Circuit Court's reasoning concerning these claims as set out in its Order denying relief on the prisoner's motion.

5. The prisoner's claim that he never entered the store while a cohort robbed it

The prisoner asserts that he told the Circuit Court during the sentencing hearing that he never entered the store in the course of the robbery. He claims, apparently, that he denied his guilt. On the other hand, it could be that the prisoner is under the misapprehension that he could not have been guilty of armed robbery if he never entered the store with a gun, with the purpose of robbing it. *McGuiston v. State*, 791 So.2d 315 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The prisoner then goes on to tell a tale of woe about his alleged inability to make the transcript of the record of the sentencing hearing a part of the record before this Court. (Brief for the prisoner, at 24 - 29).

A transcription of the record of the sentencing hearing was made, and the Clerk of the Circuit Court has sent it to this Honorable Court's clerk. In the prisoner's sentencing hearing, the prisoner admitted that he had previously entered a guilty plea to the felony of armed robbery. When allowed allocution, the prisoner apologized for his actions and for having been with the wrong person at the wrong time. He further said that he had never been in trouble previously and that "it" was just something that came upon him.

The Circuit Court made reference to a letter, and indicated that it was taking the letter into consideration. It then stated that its main consideration, with respect to sentencing, was who went into the store with a gun. The prisoner replied that he had not gone into the store with a gun, that he never left his car. The court acknowledged that that was what the prisoner's lawyer had maintained. The prisoner allowed that he would sit for a polygraph examination on the point that he had never entered the store. The prisoner denied having entered the store with a gun, notwithstanding the apparent fact that the store owner would have testified that the prisoner was the one who entered the store with the gun. There were three persons involved in the armed robbery.

Although the Circuit Court had apparently arrived at a decision as to sentence, it did not impose sentence at that time. Instead, the Circuit Court deferred sentencing pending further investigation. It is clear that the court's intention was to mete out a stiffer sentence to the one who entered the store with the gun. (Supp. Vol. 1, pp. 1 - 5). What the court's investigation revealed cannot be determined on this record. All that can be known is that the prisoner was sentenced to a term of thirty years imprisonment, with ten to be served and twenty years on post - conviction release with a five - year period of supervision, fine and assessments. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 33 - 35).

We do not think that the comments made by the prisoner at the aborted sentencing hearing can be reasonably seen as an attempt to withdraw the previously entered plea of guilty or a claim of actual innocence. The colloquy was entirely about whether the prisoner actually went into the store with a gun in order to rob it, not whether the prisoner was not involved in the armed robbery as an aider and abettor of armed robbery. The prisoner admitted that he had been involved in the robbery: he told the court that he had never been in trouble before and that his

involved was something that came upon him. The prisoner here admits that he was involved in the robbery, although he attempts to say (without explanation) that he was a "simple accessory after the fact of armed robbery." (Brief for the prisoner, at 12). The prisoner at no time claimed that he was not guilty of the felony charged against him. He never attempted to withdraw his plea. He admitted his guilt in the plea colloquy, under oath.

Taking the prisoner's words in the light most favorable to the prisoner, the prisoner simply denied having himself taken the gun into the store. He clearly indicated, however, that he aided and abetted the person who carried the gun into the store and robbed it, or perhaps that he was an accessory before the fact of the commission of the felony. This, if true, though, would avail the prisoner nothing. An aider and abettor of a felony or an accessory before the fact of the commission of a felony is indictable and triable as a principal. Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-1-3 (Rev. 2006); *Pleasant v. State*, 701 So.2d 799 (Miss. 1997). As such, he is as guilty as the person who actually entered the store with the gun, and subject to the same penalties for it. *McGuiston, supra*.

CONCLUSION

The Order of the Circuit Court denying relief on the prisoner's motion in post -

conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing should be affirmed.